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The Hest Bank Inn

IInnttrroodduuccttiioonn
There has probably been an Inn at Hest Bank from as early as eleven hundred. Many travellers
crossed the sands to take a short cut to Lancaster. The monks of Furness Abbey used this route to
inspect their property at Beaumont Grange. The safest route usually meant that the traveller
arrived at Hest Bank and also departed from there. We know that Hest Bank was settled at that
time with at least four farms so why not also an Inn to house travellers overnight and to feed
them?

 The Hotel is the oldest building still standing in the village; some parts possibly date from the
mid-sixteenth century and these are likely now to be below ground level. The next oldest part of
the Inn was probably erected towards the end of the eighteenth century when the entrance was by
the west door. The visitor would go down three steps into a large room with a low ceiling and
this still shows its original beams. The entire building is of cobble stones (rubble) and oak beams,
similar to most other old buildings in Slyne-with-Hest. The pitch of the roof suggests that it
would have been thatched in its earlier years. Recently the external rendering has been removed to
reveal the lovely old cobbled stones. The rear of the hotel is still on the level of the old road and
the old studded door is still in existence.

FFaacctt  aanndd  FFiiccttiioonn
Travis Jackson, a local historian and graphic artist, gave us an exciting view of the Hest Bank Inn
in early times. Although I have not been able to verify all the happenings he relates, there is
undoubtedly truth in some of them but sadly he did not give us any references.

The Hest Bank Inn

The original name was "The Sandes Inn" and was first licensed to brew mead, ale, sack,
honey beer, sell cooked game and hold a cockfighting main once per week in the year
1554. It remained a free house until 1944.



2

The rear portion is built of cobble stones and oak beams-it was thatched and is still on the
level of the old road. The travelling Abbots and Monks from Furness Abbey and Cartmel
Priory slept and dined here royally.

During the Civil War it is said that it was occupied by Cromwell's officers and later was
used by the King's men in arms. It was raided by deserters from the Ironsides, they
completely wrecked the Inn and wounded the Inn keeper. The Inn became the haunt of
highwaymen and foot pads. One foot pad wearing a green coat, robbed a freight wagon,
every man, including the innkeeper of this inn, who wore a green coat was arrested and
imprisoned in Lancaster Castle. During the 1745 rebellion the Cumberland deserters from
Bonnie Prince Charlie's retreating army plundered the Inn and made off across the sands.
The redcoats followed and after killing all the poultry, cooked it and had a slap up meal.
In  1760 the regular coaching trade began. 1790 brought the gangs of Irishmen who were
digging the canal. Riots daily. In 1792 the Innkeeper shot and wounded the Highwayman
Edmund Grosse, he was tried and hung at Lancaster, his body was filled with tar and
stretched on a gibbet on the Hanging Green in this parish where it remained for two years.

1799 the "Coaching Trade" was booming and the front part of the Hotel together with the
Lantern Room was built.

The Inn became a posting and service halt and by 1805 the stables held 16 horses, 6
ostlers, 4 drivers and a rescue team. Foot warmers were provided and there was an ironing
and starching service, including lace cuffs, for the travellers. The "Ulverston Queens",
"The Broughton Flowers", "The Solway Traders", "The Lancasters", "The Lakeland
Gems", and the "Urswick Lassies", were all running the oversands route, daily. The fare
for crossing the sands was 7s-outside and 10s-inside. Over 130 people were rescued from
the sands and cared for at the Inn until 1854 when the opening of the Furness Railway
killed the Coaching Trade. It died fighting, the last coach 1856.

During the exciting years of the 19th century, many Notable people stayed here, including
Prince Fredrick of Prussia, Mrs Siddons, Lord Hope, The beauty of Buttermere, Lord
Hamilton, The Duke of Devonshire, and many other noblemen. In 1830 the Inn was the
centre of the once famous Hest Bank Sports with prizes of £200. Frances Bond the
champion wrestler took part. Pace Egging, Maypole dancing, Duck Shooting, Venison
dinners, Steak Eating and Sunday Cockfights were normal pastimes. During the Railway
days the Hotel was left in a quiet backwater until the Coastal road was opened in 1933. In
the early years of this century the old house was covered with creepers and roses, it was
illuminated by oil lamps. The beer came straight from the barrel. Those who linger here
for a drink are in the company of many happy ghosts.

[Travis Jackson ]

EEaarrllyy  TTiimmeess  aatt  tthhee  IInnnn
There is very little documentation on the Inn from the 16th and17th centuries at the Public Record
Offices. Unfortunately when masses of documents were removed from Lancaster Castle to
London in the late 1800s many records were lost or destroyed accidentally. The earliest relevant
reference I have for Hest Bank is from 1643 during the first part of the Civil War. It is recorded
that troops passed through the village, but did not stay. Here is a reference from the volume
"Lancashire at War" by  J. J. Bagley and A. S. Lewis:

SSeepptteemmbbeerr  11664433..
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........tthheenn,,  ttoowwaarrddss  tthhee  eenndd  ooff  SSeepptteemmbbeerr,,  RRiiggbbyy  hheeaarrdd  tthhaatt  CCoolloonneell  HHuuddddlleessttoonn  ooff  MMiilllloomm  wwaass  oorrggaanniissiinngg  aa
RRooyyaalliisstt  ffoorrccee  iinn  FFuurrnneessss,,  aanndd  wwaass  iinntteennddiinngg  mmaarrcchhiinngg  ttoo  tthhee  rreelliieeff  ooff  TThhuurrllaanndd,,  HHuuddddlleessttoonn  hhaadd  tthhee
ssuuppppoorrtt  ooff  RRooggeerr  KKiirrbbyy,,  oonnee  ooff  tthhee  MMPPss..  ffoorr  LLaannccaasshhiirree,,  aanndd  aallssoo  tthhee  hheellpp  ooff  RRiiggbbyy''ss  ccoouussiinn  aanndd
nnaammeessaakkee,,  AAlleexxaannddeerr  RRiiggbbyy  ooff  LLaayyttoonn..  IItt  aappppeeaarreedd  ttoo  bbee  aa  ffaaiirr  ssiizzeedd  ffoorrccee--aabboouutt  11660000  ssttrroonngg..  CCoolloonneell
RRiiggbbyy  ddeecciiddeedd  ttoo  ssuurrpprriissee  iitt..  HHee  wwiitthhddrreeww  550000  ffoooott  aanndd  tthhrreeee  ttrrooooppss  ooff  hhoorrssee  ffrroomm  hhiiss  bbeessiieeggiinngg  aarrmmyy,,  aanndd
vveerryy  qquuiicckkllyy  mmaarrcchheedd  tthheemm  aaccrroossss  tthhee  ssaannddss  ffrroomm  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  ttoo  tthhee  CCaarrttmmeell  ppeenniinnssuullaa..[[LLaannccaasshhiirree  aatt  WWaarr,,
JJ  JJ  BBaagglleeyy  aanndd  AA  SS  LLeewwiiss]]

OOwwnneerrss  aanndd  TTeennaannttss  ooff  tthhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  IInnnn  ((SSaannddeess  IInnnn))

I have been lucky to identify some of the early Inn Keepers and owners of the Hest Bank Inn. A
man called William Sandes was first mentioned in 1537 as a member of the jury of a court held for
Slyne, Hest, Beaumont and Bolton-le-Sands.

CCoouurrtt  HHeelldd  aatt  BBeeaauummoonntt  11553377..
CCoouurrtt  hheelldd  tthheerree  oonn  1133tthh  JJaann..  2299,,  HHeennrryy  88tthh..  11553377--3388,,  bbeeffoorree  SSiirr  JJoohhnn  LLaammpplloouugghh,,  TThhoommaass  CCaarruuss  aanndd
WWiilllliiaamm  SSaannddeess..
[[MMaannoorr  ccoouurrtt  ddooccuummeenntt,,  BBeeaauummoonntt  11553377]]

In 1613 there was a mention of a William Sandes, a gentleman of this area, who was required,
with others, to investigate on behalf of Skerton, Slyne and Hest the occupation of the Commons
of Quermore Forest. It may be a coincidence that there were prominent people called Sandes in
the district and an Inn of the same name. But was he or were his descendants the builders and the
owners of the Hest Bank Inn in its earliest days? Of course the name of  "Sandes Inn" could
simply refer to the geographical location. Here is the second reference:

BByy  11557700  QQuueeeenn  EElliizzaabbeetthh  ccoonnffiirrmmeedd  tthhee  bboouunnddss  ooff  QQuueerrmmoorree  mmoosstt  ooff  tthhee  ffoorreesstt  hhaadd  ddiissaappppeeaarreedd  bbuutt  tthhee
ccoommmmoonn  ppaassttuurree  rreemmaaiinneedd..  IInn  11661133,,  SSiirr  MMaarrmmaadduukkee  TTuunnssttaallll,,  NNiicchhoollaass  TThhoorrnnbbuurrgghh  aanndd  RRiicchhaarrdd  NNeewwttoonn
aanndd  WWiilllliiaamm  SSaannddeess  wweerree  iinnssttrruucctteedd  ttoo  eennqquuiirree  iinnttoo  aa  ccoommppllaaiinntt  oonn  bbeehhaallff  ooff  tthhee  MMaayyoorr,,  BBaaiilliiffffss  aanndd
iinnhhaabbiittaannttss  ooff  SSkkeerrttoonn,,  SSllyynnee  aanndd  HHeesstt  aaggaaiinnsstt  RRoobbeerrtt  PPaacckkeett,,  TThhoommaass  CChhaappmmaann  aanndd  ootthheerrss  ttoo  tthhee  nnuummbbeerr
ooff  ttwweellvvee  wwhhoo  uunnllaawwffuullllyy  ooccccuuppiieedd  tthhee  CCoommmmoonn..  GGeeoorrggee  BBeennnneetttt,,  CChhrriissttooffeerr  BBeennyyssoonn  aanndd  EEddwwaarrdd  GGeerrssoonn
wweerree  ssoommee  ooff  tthhoossee  wwhhoo  ggaavvee  eevviiddeennccee  tthhaatt  JJoohhnn  GGrreeeennee  ssoommee  1155  yyeeaarrss  ppaasstt  wwaass  aappppooiinntteedd  KKeeeeppeerr  ooff  tthhee
CCoommmmoonn  ffoorr  tthhee  KKiinngg''ss  tteennaannttss  ooff    SSkkeerrttoonn  SSllyynnee  aanndd  HHeesstt  aanndd  aatt  tthhee  ssaammee  ttiimmee  JJoohhnn  SSmmiitthh  wwaass  KKeeeeppeerr
ffoorr  tthhee  ttoowwnn  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr,,  aanndd  tthheeyy  iimmppoouunnddeedd  bbeeaassttss  ooff  tthhee  QQuueerrnnmmoorree  iinnhhaabbiittaannttss..
[[  RRooyyaall  LLaannccaasshhiirree  FFoorreessttss,,  CCuunnlliiffffee  ]]

In 1663, just after the restoration of Charles II., a Hearth Tax was introduced. It was assumed
that the more fires you had the richer you were. Randall Bateman was the Keeper of the Hest
Bank Inn at that time and he paid tax on two hearths. However he was not the richest man in the
village that honour went to John Arthur Esq. who paid tax on four hearths! From the Ale
Recognisance Lists we know that Bateman was the Inn keeper until at least 1678. His wife was
probably Agnes who died in 1683, it is also likely that Grace, who married in 1657, was his sister.
After this time there are records of members of the Bateman family in the village but were then
living in Slyne:

11666633::  RRaannddaallll  BBaatteemmaann,,  ppaaiidd  HHeeaarrtthh  TTaaxx  oonn  ttwwoo  hheeaarrtthhss  iinn  SSllyynnee--ccuumm--HHeesstt..
11667788::  RRaannddaallll  BBaatteemmaann,,  KKeeeeppeerr  ooff  TThhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  IInnnn..  [[AAllee  HHoouussee  RReeccooggnniizzaannccee  LLiissttss]]..
11668833::  MMrrss  AAggnneess  BBaatteemmaann,,  WWiiddddooww  ddyyeedd  aatttt  HHeesstt  aanndd  BBuurryyeedd  aatt  KKeennddaallll..
11665577::  JJaammeess  HHoouusseemmaann  ooff    SSlliinnee  mmaarrrriieedd  GGrraaccee  BBaatteemmaann  ooff  HHeessttbbaanncckkee..  [[BBoollttoonn  --  llee  --  SSaannddss  CChhuurrcchh
rreeggiisstteerr]]

The next Landlord I came across was Anthony Caton of Hest Bank who became a Freeman of the
City of Lancaster in 1691. There are in fact two marriages recorded for Anthony, one at
Lancaster in 1710 and one at Bolton-le-Sands in 1711! The two marriages were witnessed by
different people. Anthony died in 1726 having been the Landlord for 35 years.
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11669911::  CCaattoonn,,  AAnntthhoonnyy  ooff  HHeessttbbaannkk,,  IInnnn  KKeeeeppeerr  [[RRoollllss  ooff  FFrreeeemmeenn  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr]]
11771100::  AAnntthhoonnyy  CCaattoonn,,  ooff  HHeessttbbaannkk,,  IInnnnkkeeeeppeerr..  MMaarrrriieedd  aatt  LLaannccaasstteerr  wwiittnn..  JJoohhnn  SSttaatttteerr..
11771111::  AAnntthhoonnyy  CCaattoonn  ooff  HHeessttbbaannkk,,  yyeeoommaann,,  mmaarrrriieedd  ,,  wwiittnn,,  FFrraann  BBrryyeerr..
11772266::  AAnntthhoonnyy  CCaattoonn  ooff  HHeesstt  ddiieedd..

The marriage registers show Richard Proctor as the Hest Bank Innkeeper in 1744

11774444..  RRiicchhaarrdd  PPrroocctteerr  ooff  HHeesstt  BBaannkk,,  IInnnnkkeeeeppeerr,,  mmaarrrriieess  aatt  BBoollttoonn  BByy  TThhee  SSaannddss..

The next recorded owner and Landlord was Christopher Bleazdale, he does not appear in any of
the Bolton-le-Sands Registers but the name appears on the Manor Court Documents. Christopher
was also a farmer for some years in Hest Bank and later at Hatlex. In 1770 Mr. Bradshaw became
the landlord and stayed for at least five years, the Inn was then sold to The Reverend Thomas
Butler who married Rebecca Stout in 1793. Rebecca was the great granddaughter of Leonard
Stout the builder of Hatlex House in 1698, she inherited the estate in 1790 when her brother
Josias, died. (From R. Sharpe France and J. D. Marshall. Revised version of Stout's
Autobiography)

The manor court documents detail the sale of the Inn in 1775 to Rev. Thomas Butler:

11777755::    CChhrriissttoopphheerr  BBlleeaazzddaallee  ooff  HHaattlloocckkss  iinn  SSlliinnee  [[HHuussbbaannddmmaann]]  ssuurrrreennddeerrss  oonnee  hhoouussee  aatt  rreenntt  ooff  11ss--44dd  ttoo
TThhoommaass  BBuuttlleerr  ooff  BBoollttoonn,,  LLaannddssiiddee,,  YYeeoommaann..  ffoorr  ££335500..

TThhee  IInnnn  iinn  tthhee  11880000ss

BBaannkkrruuppttccyy

In the early years of the nineteenth century William Cottam was the Innkeeper and in1805 he was
declared bankrupt. Perhaps the Inn was not trading successfully at that time. Reading through the
sale notices, which include his personal effects, suggests that each landlord had to provide his
own 'stock in trade'; for example glasses, small tables, brewing vessels and barrels. Apparently the
Hest Bank Inn brewed its own ale. The fact that William Cottam had a Bathing Machine at this
early date is interesting because sea bathing did not become universally popular until around1840.

BBaannkkrruuppttccyy  ooff  IInnnn  kkeeeeppeerr
WWhheerreeaass  WWiilllliiaamm  CCoottttaamm,,  ooff  HHeessttbbaannkk,,  IInnnnkkeeeeppeerr,,  hhaatthh  tthhiiss  ddaayy  aassssiiggnneedd  oovveerr  aallll  hhiiss  eessttaattee  aanndd  eeffffeeccttss
wwhhaattssooeevveerr  oonnttoo  TThhoommaass  CCoottttaamm,,  ooff  HHeeaattoonn,,  yyeeoommaann;;  MMaatttthheeww  RReeddhheeaadd,,  ooff  SSllyynnee,,  MMaallttsstteerr,,  aanndd  EEddmmuunndd
BBooaarrddlleeyy  ooff  SSllyynnee,,  yyeeoommaann,,  IInn  ttrruusstt  ffoorr  tthhee  eeqquuaall  bbeenneeffiitt  ooff  hhiiss  ccrreeddiittoorrss::  ssuucchh  ccrreeddiittoorrss  aarree  tthheerreeffoorree
rreeqquueesstteedd  ttoo  ddeelliivveerr  iinn  aaccccoouunnttss  ooff  tthheeiirr  ddeemmaannddss  aaggaaiinnsstt  tthhee  ssaaiidd  WWiilllliiaamm  CCoottttaamm,,  ttoo  oonnee  ooff  tthhee  aassssiiggnneeeess,,
oorr  aatt  tthhee  ooffffiiccee  ooff  MMrr..  WWeebbsstteerr,,  aattttoorrnneeyy,,  LLaannccaasstteerr..  AAnndd  aallll  ppeerrssoonnss  wwhhoo  ssttaanndd  iinnddeebbtteedd  ttoo  tthhee  ssaaiidd
WWiilllliiaamm  CCoottttaamm,,  aarree  rreeqquueesstteedd  ttoo  ppaayy  wwhhaatt  tthheeyy  oowwee,,  ttoo  oonnee  ooff  tthhee  ssaaiidd  aassssiiggnneeeess,,  oorr  aatt  tthhee  ssaaiidd  ooffffiiccee
wwiitthhoouutt  ddeellaayy..
TToo  bbee  SSoolldd  BByy  AAuuccttiioonn..
AAtt  tthhee  hhoouussee  ooff  tthhee  ssaaiidd  WWiilllliiaamm  CCoottttaamm,,  oonn  MMoonnddaayy  2255  FFeebb..  iinnssttaanntt,,  tthhee  ssaallee  ttoo  bbeeggiinn  aatt  ttwweellvvee  oo''cclloocckk  aatt
nnoooonn,,  aanndd  ttoo  bbee  ccoonnttiinnuueedd  oonn  tthhee  ssuucccceeeeddiinngg  ddaayyss,,  ttiillll  aallll  bbee  ssoolldd..
AAllll  TThhee  HHoouusseehhoolldd  FFuurrnniittuurree  aanndd  SSttoocckk  iinn  TTrraaddee..
CCoonnssiissttiinngg  ooff  eeiigghhtt  ffeeaatthheerr  bbeeddss,,  bbeeddsstteeaaddss  aanndd  hhaannggiinnggss,,  iinn  eexxcceelllleenntt  ccoonnddiittiioonn,,  bbeedd  qquuiillttss  aanndd  ootthheerr  bbeedd
aanndd  ttaabbllee  lliinneenn;;  aa  ggoooodd  cclloocckk  aanndd  mmaahhooggaannyy  ccaassee,,  llooookkiinngg  ggllaasssseess;;  ddiinniinngg,,  ccaarrdd,,  aanndd  ssnnaapp  ttaabblleess,,
mmaahhooggaannyy  wwrriittiinngg  ddeesskk,,  cchhaaiirrss,,  cchhiinnaa,,  ggllaasssseess  aanndd  eeaarrtthheenn  wwaarree;;  cchheessttss,,  ccuuppbbooaarrddss,,  bbrreewwiinngg  vveesssseellss  aanndd
bbaarrrreellss;;  wwiitthh  aa  vvaarriieettyy  ooff  ootthheerr  hhoouussee--hhoolldd  aanndd  kkiittcchheenn  uutteennssiillss..
AAllssoo,,  ttwwoo  ccoowwss,,  oonnee  ppiigg,,  ccaarrtt,,  wwhheeeellss  aanndd  hhuussbbaannddrryy  ggeeaarr,,  aa  qquuaannttiittyy  ooff  hhaayy,,  aanndd  aa  BBaatthhiinngg  MMaacchhiinnee..
[[LLaannccaasstteerr  GGaazzeettttee  FFeebb..  2233rrdd..  11880055]]

TThhoommaass  GGrreeeennee  BBeeccoommeess  LLoorrdd  ooff  tthhee  MMaannoorr..

Over the years the Inn was used for meetings of the Manor Court of Slyne-with-Hest, just as the
Parish Council uses the Memorial Hall today. Most inquests and hearings were held at the Inn and
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the urgency of holding an inquest locally was because the body needed to be buried within three
days. In 1812 a Manor Court meeting was held at the Inn when William Simpson was the Tenant
Landlord.

The members of the Manor Court were called to a meeting on the fifth day of October 1815 at the
Hest Bank Inn, this was the meeting where Thomas Greene became Lord of the Manor of Slyne
with Hest, up to this time the King had been Lord of the Manor.

Manor of Slyne with Hest with its Members in the County of Lancaster.

Notice is hereby given that the Court Leet or View of Frankpledge with the Court Baron of
our Sovereign Lord the King for the said Manor of Slyne and Hest will be holden before
John Fenton Cawthorne Esq. Steward of the said Manor or his Deputy at the house of
John Townson at Hest within the said Manor on Friday the 27th. day of October instant at
eleven o'clock in the forenoon when and where all persons owing suit and service at the
said Court are required to attend Dated this fifth Day of October 1815.

John Dowbiggin Deputy Steward.

IInnqquueesstt  hheelldd  aatt  tthhee  IInnnn

In the early part of the nineteenth century the Inn was the location of several inquests. The
following is a typical example and one can only imagine the dreadful proceedings:

BBooddyy  FFoouunndd..  JJuullyy  99tthh..  11884466
AAnn  iinnqquueesstt  wwaass  hheelldd  oonn  WWeeddnneessddaayy  aatt  tthhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell  bbeeffoorree  JJaammeess  GGaarrddeenneerr  EEssqq..,,  tthhee  ccoorroonneerr,,  oonn
tthhee  bbooddyy  ooff  aa  yyoouunngg  mmaann,,  wwhhoo  iiss  ssuuppppoosseedd  ttoo  bbee  aa  ssttrraannggeerr;;  bbuutt  ffrroomm  tthhee  bbooddyy  bbeeiinngg  mmuucchh  ddeeccoommppoosseedd  tthhee
ffeeaattuurreess  ccoouulldd  nnoott  bbee  iiddeennttiiffiieedd..  TThhee  uunnffoorrttuunnaattee  mmaann  mmuusstt  hhaavvee  bbeeeenn  lloosstt  ffoorr  ssoommee  lleennggtthh  ooff  ttiimmee,,  aass  bbootthh
aarrmmss  wweerree  bbrrookkeenn  aanndd  tthhee  bbooddyy  ootthheerrwwiissee  mmuuttiillaatteedd  nnoo  ddoouubbtt  ffrroomm  iitt  bbeeiinngg  ddrriifftteedd  aanndd  bbeeaatteenn  aabboouutt
aammoonnggsstt  tthhee  rroocckkss  iinn  tthhee  cchhaannnneell..  HHee  wwaass  ddrreesssseedd  aass  aa  ssaaiilloorr  bbuutt  wwiitthhoouutt  sshhooeess  oorr  ssttoocckkiinnggss..
VVeerrddiicctt::  FFoouunndd  DDrroowwnneedd..

IImmpprroovveemmeennttss  ttoo  tthhee  IInnnn

John Townson had become the tenant Landlord of the Hest Bank Inn in 1812. In 1815 John
Townson returned his sincere thanks for the general support he had experienced from the
members of the Manor Court and he announced that he had established a new Bathing Machine!

At some time between 1806 and 1821, the Inn was improved considerably. The Inn was partly
rebuilt, the Lantern Room was added and the stables were extended. Thomas Wilkinson was the
Landlord in the 1820s and he was also the Assistant Guide Over The Sands.

When the coaches crossed the sands they were drawn by four horses and, as it was arranged that
the horses might be changed at Hest Bank, large stables with about 16 stalls were built at the back
of the Inn. They were most likely erected when Thomas Wilkinson was appointed by The Duchy
of Lancaster as the assistant guide responsible for seeing travellers safely over the River Keer.
After making an assignment of his personal estate and effects for the benefit of his creditors in
September 1823, Thomas retired from the Inn in 1830. Later we find records of him living at The
Old Hall where he finally died in 1832.

In 1828 Edward Baines (an historian) crossed the sands from Hest Bank to Grange, his guide for
the first half of the journey was Thomas Wilkinson. He described the journey in his book "A
Companion to the Lakes" written in 1830:
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II  aarrrriivveedd  aatt  HHeessttbbaannkk,,  oonn  tthhee  sshhoorreess  ooff  MMoorreeccaammbbee--BBaayy,,  tthhrreeee  aanndd  aa  hhaallff  mmiilleess  ffrroomm  LLaannccaasstteerr,,  aabboouutt  ffiivvee
iinn  tthhee  aafftteerrnnoooonn..  HHeerree  aa  lliittttllee  ccaarraavvaann  wwaass  ccoolllleecctteedd,,  wwaaiittiinngg  tthhee  pprrooppeerr  ttiimmee  ttoo  ccrroossss  tthhee  ttrraacckklleessss  ssaannddss
lleefftt  bbaarree  bbyy  tthhee  rreecceeddiinngg  ttiiddee..  II  ssoooonn  ssaaww  ttwwoo  ppeerrssoonnss  sseett  oouutt  iinn  aa  ggiigg  aanndd,,  ffoolllloowwiinngg  tthheemm,,  II  ffoouunndd  oonnee  ooff
tthheemm  wwaass  tthhee  gguuiiddee  aappppooiinntteedd  ttoo  ccoonndduucctt  ttrraavveelllleerrss,,  aanndd  tthhee  ootthheerr  aa  sseerrvvaanntt,,  wwhhoo  wwaass  ddrriivviinngg  hhiiss  mmaasstteerrss
ggiigg  ttoo  tthhee  CCaarrttmmeell  SShhoorree,,  aanndd  wwaass  ttoo  rreettuurrnn  wwiitthh  tthhee  hhoorrssee  tthhee  ssaammee  eevveenniinngg..  HHee  hhaadd  ooff  ccoouurrssee  nnoo  ttiimmee  ttoo
lloossee  aanndd  hhaadd  bbeegguunn  hhiiss  jjoouurrnneeyy  aatt  tthhee  eeaarrlliieesstt  ppoossssiibbllee  hhoouurr..
WWee  ffoouunndd  tthhee  ssaannddss  ffiirrmm  aanndd  lleevveell,,  eexxcceepptt  tthhee  sslliigghhtt  wwrriinnkklleess  pprroodduucceedd  bbyy  tthhee  rriippppllee  ooff  tthhee  wwaavveess,,  bbuutt
tthheeyy  wweerree  ssttiillll  wweett,,  hhaavviinngg  oonnllyy  jjuusstt  bbeeeenn  lleefftt  bbyy  tthhee  sseeaa..  TThhee  GGuuiiddee  aappppeeaarreedd  ttoo  ddrriivvee  wwiitthh  ccaauuttiioonn  aanndd  iinn
nnoo  ppllaaccee  wweenntt  ffuurrtthheerr  tthhaann  aa  mmiillee  ffrroomm  llaanndd..  WWee  hhaadd  aa  ggoooodd  ddeeaall  ooff  ccoonnvveerrssaattiioonn,,  aanndd  II  ffoouunndd  hhiimm
iinntteelllliiggeenntt  aanndd  ccoommmmuunniiccaattiivvee..  HHiiss  nnaammee  iiss  TThhoommaass  WWiillkkiinnssoonn,,  hhee  iiss  aa  ttaallll  aatthhlleettiicc  mmaann,,  ppaasstt  tthhee  mmiiddddllee
aaggee,,  aanndd  bbeeaarrss  mmaarrkkss  ooff  tthhee  rroouugghh  wweeaatthheerr  hhee  hhaass  bbeeeenn  eexxppoosseedd  ttoo  iinn  ddiisscchhaarrggiinngg  tthhee  dduuttiieess  ooff  hhiiss  ppoosstt
dduurriinngg  tthhee  wwiinntteerr  mmoonntthhss..  IInn  ssttoorrmmyy  aanndd  mmoorree  eessppeecciiaallllyy  iinn  ffooggggyy  wweeaatthheerr,,  tthheessee  dduuttiieess  mmuusstt  bbee  aarrdduuoouuss
aanndd  aannxxiioouuss..
IItt  iiss  hhiiss  bbuussiinneessss  ttoo  ssttaattiioonn  hhiimmsseellff  aatt  tthhee  ppllaaccee  wwhheerree  tthhee  rriivveerr  KKeeeerr  rruunnss  oovveerr  tthhee  SSaannddss  ttoo  tthhee  sseeaa,,  wwhhiicchh
iiss  aabboouutt  33  mmiilleess  ffrroomm  HHeessttbbaannkk,,  aanndd  ttoo  sshhooww  ttrraavveelllleerrss  wwhheerree  tthheeyy  mmaayy  ppaassss  wwiitthh  ssaaffeettyy..--------------------------
WWhheenn  wwee  ccaammee  ttoo  tthhee  rriivveerr,,  hhee  ggoott  oouutt  ooff  tthhee  ggiigg,,  aanndd  wwaaddeedd  oovveerr  ttoo  aasscceerrttaaiinn  tthhee  ffiirrmmnneessss  ooff  tthhee  bboottttoomm,,
tthhee  wwaatteerr  bbeeiinngg  aabboouutt  kknneeee--ddeeeepp..  HHaavviinngg  eessccoorrtteedd  uuss  aa  lliittttllee  ffuurrtthheerr,,  ttiillll  wwee  ssaaww  tthhee  GGuuiiddee  ffoorr  tthhee  KKeenntt  aatt  aa
ddiissttaannccee  aanndd  hhaavviinngg  ppooiinntteedd  oouutt  tthhee  lliinnee  wwee  sshhoouulldd  kkeeeepp  hhee  lleefftt  uuss  ttoo  rreettuurrnn  ttoo  hhiiss  pprrooppeerr  ppoosstt..  WWee  ggaavvee
hhiimm  aa  ffeeww  ppeennccee::  ffoorr  tthhoouugghh  hhee  iiss  aappppooiinntteedd  bbyy  tthhee  GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  hhiiss  ssaallaarryy  iiss  oonnllyy  ££1100  aa  yyeeaarr,,  aanndd  hhee  iiss  ooff
ccoouurrssee  cchhiieeffllyy  ddeeppeennddaanntt  oonn  wwhhaatt  hhee  rreecceeiivveess  ffrroomm  ttrraavveelllleerrss..--------------
TThhee  UUllvveerrssttoonn  CCooaacchh,,  sseevveerraall  ggiiggss,,  aanndd  ssoommee  ppeerrssoonnss  oonn  hhoorrsseebbaacckk,,  hhaadd  ffoolllloowweedd  uuss  aatt  aa  lliittttllee  ddiissttaannccee,,
kkeeeeppiinngg  ttoo  tthhee  ttrraacckk  lleefftt  bbyy  tthhee  wwhheeeellss  ooff  tthhee  vveehhiiccllee  wwhhiicchh  ccoonnvveeyyeedd  tthhee  GGuuiiddee..  WWhheenn  WWiillkkiinnssoonn  lleefftt  uuss
wwee  rrooddee  oonn  ttwwoo  oorr  tthhrreeee  mmiilleess  bbeeffoorree  wwee  ccaammee  ttoo  tthhee  CChhaannnneell  ooff  tthhee  KKeenntt  aanndd  mmeett  JJaammeess  CCaarrtteerr,,  oouurr  KKeenntt
GGuuiiddee..

Edward Baines did not appear to know that Thomas Wilkinson was also the Landlord of the Hest
Bank Inn at this time, he and his wife were really quite well-off, as were James Carter and his
family. It seems that the Guide to the Keer, Thomas Wilkinson usually performed his duties on
foot, whilst the Guide to the Kent, James Carter was on horseback. The Guide to the Kent had
become known as "Carter", the duty of Guide had been performed by the family of that name for
generations.

In a Paper by His Honour Sir Sanderson Temple M.B.E., Q.C. we are reminded of the dangers of
the sands::

Lord Ellenborough, Chief Justice, it is pertinent to recall in order not to overlook the
dangers inherent in the crossing, being about to journey trans-sands from Cartmel to Hest
Bank, with some apprehension, inquired of the inn-keeper. "Do you lose many crossing the
Bay?"  "No" came the riposte "we always find them at low water".

TThhoommaass  PPaappee  tteellllss  uuss  aabboouutt  tthhee  ccoonnssttrruuccttiioonn  ooff  tthhee  LLaanntteerrnn  RRoooomm::

DDuurriinngg  tthhee  eeaarrllyy  yyeeaarrss  ooff  tthhee  nniinneetteeeenntthh  cceennttuurryy  tthhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  IInnnn  wwaass  ppaarrttllyy  rreebbuuiilltt,,  mmoosstt  lliikkeellyy  wwhheenn
TThhoommaass  WWiillkkiinnssoonn  ,,  tthhee  aassssiissttaanntt  gguuiiddee  oovveerr  tthhee  ssaannddss  wwaass  tthhee  tteennaanntt::  aanndd  tthhee  oowwnneerr  wwaass  tthhee  RReevv..
TThhoommaass  BBuuttlleerr  wwhhoo  iinn  11882211  wwaass  ssttaatteedd  ttoo  bbee  ppaayyiinngg  aa  ccuussttoommaarryy  rreenntt  ooff  11ss--44dd..  yyeeaarrllyy  ttoo  tthhee  LLoorrdd  ooff  tthhee
MMaannoorr..  BBeeffoorree  bbeeiinngg  aappppooiinntteedd  iinnccuummbbeenntt  ooff  PPoouullttoonn--llee--SSaannddss  CChhuurrcchh  iinn  11882255  tthhee  RReevv..  TThhoommaass  BBuuttlleerr
wwaass  tthhee  ccuurraattee  aatt  WWhhiittttiinnggttoonn  aanndd  hhaadd  mmaarrrriieedd  RReebbeeccccaa,,  hheeiirreessss  ooff  LLeeoonnaarrdd  SSttoouutt  iinn  11779933..  OOnn  ttaakkiinngg  hhiiss
sseeaatt  iinn  11881177  aass  aa  JJuussttiiccee  ooff  tthhee  PPeeaaccee  iinn  tthhee  CCoouunnttyy  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr  hhiiss  rreessiiddeennccee  wwaass  ggiivveenn  aass  HHaattlleexx..
LLeeoonnaarrdd  SSttoouutt''ss  oolldd  hhoommee..  PPllaannss  ffoorr  tthhee  eexxiissttiinngg  cchhuurrcchh  iinn  MMoorreeccaammbbee  wweerree  wweellll  uunnddeerr  wwaayy  wwhheenn  hhee  ddiieedd
iinn  MMaayy  11883399..
LLaanntteerrnn  RRoooomm..  TToo  gguuiiddee  ttrraavveelllleerrss  ccoommiinngg  oovveerr  tthhee  ssaannddss  aafftteerr  ddaarrkk  aa  hhuuggee  llaanntteerrnn  wwaass  iinnssttaalllleedd  iinn  tthhee
llaarrggee  uuppppeerr  rroooomm  ooff  tthhee  iinnnn  ccoonnttaaiinniinngg  mmaannyy  wwiinnddoowwss  oonn  tthhrreeee  ssiiddeess..  TThhiiss  wwaass  tthhee  mmaaiinn  ffeeaattuurree  ooff  tthhee
nneeww  eeaasstteerrnn  ppaarrtt  bbuuiilltt  iinn  tthhee  RReevv..  TThhoommaass  BBuuttlleerr''ss  ttiimmee..
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TThhoommaass  MMoooorree

In 1806 the Rev. Thomas Butler had raised £500 on the Hest Bank Inn from John Dowbiggin, by
1821 he also owed £900 for professional services; the Inn was surrendered to John Dowbiggin
who sold it to Thomas Moore of Flookburgh, a fishmonger. The following document is dated
10th. May 1821:

11882211..  SSuurrrreennddeerr  bbyy  TThhoommaass  BBuuttlleerr,,  JJoohhnn  DDoowwbbiiggggiinn  aanndd  WWiilllliiaamm  SShhaarrpp  ooff  TThhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  IInnnn  ttoo  tthhee  uussee
ooff  TThhoommaass  MMoooorr  ooff  FFllooookkbbuurrgghh,,  ((FFiisshhmmoonnggeerr)),,  1100tthh  MMaayy,,  wwhhoo  ppaayyss  ££11000000  aanndd  11ss--44dd  rreenntt..

The Inn appears to have flourished during the time of Thomas Moore there were many visitors to
the Inn during this time,two famous landscape painters who came more than a century ago to
paint the coaches and people on the sands at Hest Bank were J. M. W. Turner and David Cox in
1838. The following letter, written at Hest Bank Hotel by David Cox in 1838, well illustrates the
difficulties of travelling from south Lancashire into the Lake District:
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LLeetttteerr  ttoo  RRoobbeerrtt  HHiinnddmmaarrsshh  GGrruunnddyy..
HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell,,
33¼¼  mmiilleess  ffrroomm  LLaannccaasstteerr,,
AAuugguusstt  1177tthh..,,  11883388..
MMyy  ddeeaarr  SSiirr,,
IItt  iiss  mmyy  iinntteennttiioonn  ttoo  ggoo  ffrroomm  tthhiiss  ppllaaccee,,  oovveerr  tthhee  ssaannddss  ttoo  FFllooookkbboorroouugghh,,  aanndd  ffrroomm  tthheennccee  ttoo  CCaarrttmmeell
wwhhiicchh  iiss  ttwwoo  mmiilleess  bbeeyyoonndd  wwhheerree  II  sshhaallll  aannxxiioouussllyy  wwaaiitt  yyoouurr  ccoommppaannyy,,  aanndd  aass  II  uunnddeerrssttoooodd  yyoouu  iitt  wwaass
yyoouurr  iinntteennttiioonn  ttoo  lleeaavvee  MMaanncchheesstteerr  bbyy  tthhee  ccooaacchh  oonn  TThhuurrssddaayy  mmoorrnniinngg,,  II  wwiillll  ggiivvee  yyoouu  ssoommee  aaddvviiccee  aabboouutt
tthhee  ccooaacchh  eettcc..  IIff  yyoouu  lleeaavvee  MMaanncchheesstteerr  bbyy  tthhee  ccooaacchh  ccaalllleedd  tthhee  WWaatteerr  WWiittcchh  [[??  tthhaatt  wwaass  tthhee  nnaammee  ooff  tthhee
ppaacckkeett  bbooaatt  oonn  tthhee  ccaannaall,,  TT..PP..]]  iitt  wwiillll  ccoonnvveeyy  yyoouu  ttoo  PPrreessttoonn  wwhheerree  II  bbeelliieevvee  yyoouu  ttaakkee  tthhee  bbooaatt,,  aanndd  iitt  wwiillll
llaanndd  yyoouu  aatt  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell,,  [[mmiinndd  aanndd  bbee  ppaarrttiiccuullaarr  iinn  tteelllliinngg  tthhee  bbooaattmmaann  ttoo  ppuutt  yyoouu  oouutt  aatt  HHeesstt  BBaannkk
BBrriiddggee]]  yyoouu  wwiillll  aarrrriivvee  aatt  hhaallff  ppaasstt  55  aafftteerrnnoooonn----  tthhee  nneexxtt  mmoorrnniinngg  yyoouu  wwiillll  ttaakkee  aa  ppllaaccee  iinn  tthhee  ccoonnvveeyyaannccee
oovveerr  ssaanndd  aanndd  ccooaacchh  ttoo  FFllooookkbbuurrgghh..  II  sshhaallll  ppuutt  uupp  aatt  tthhee  IInnnn  kkeepptt  bbyy  RRiicchhaarrdd  TToodddd;;  iiff  II  aamm  nnoott  tthheerree  II
sshhaallll  bbee  aatt  tthhee  iinnnn  aatt  CCaarrttmmeell  kkeepptt  bbyy  ----SSiinngglleettoonn..  II  hhaavvee  hhaadd  tthhrreeee  mmoosstt  ddeelliigghhttffuull  ddaayyss  aanndd  hhooppee  yyoouu  wwiillll
bbee  aass  ffoorrttuunnaattee..  AAfftteerr  yyoouu  aarrrriivvee  aanndd  hhaavvee  bbeeeenn  wwiitthh  mmee  ttwwoo  ddaayyss  II  iinntteenndd  ttoo  ggoo  ttoo  FFuurrnneessss  AAbbbbeeyy,,  tthheerree
wwee  wwiillll  mmaakkee  oouurr  ffuurrtthheerr  aarrrraannggeemmeennttss  ,,eettcc..  BBeelliieevvee  mmee,,  yyoouurrss  ssiinncceerreellyy,,

DDaavviidd  CCooxx..

PPSS..  IIff  tthheerree  sshhoouulldd  nnoott  bbee  rroooomm  ffoorr  yyoouu  iinn  tthhee  ccooaacchh  oovveerr  ssaannddss,,  TThhoommaass  MMoooorr  ooff  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell  wwiillll
hhiirree  yyoouu  aa  ccaarrtt,,  aanndd  ttaakkee  yyoouu  oovveerr  ttoo  FFllooookkbboorroouugghh..  II  hhooppee  yyoouu  wwiillll  nnoott  ddiissaappppooiinntt  mmee  iinn  yyoouurr  ccoommppaannyy..
RReemmeemmbbeerr  mmee  ttoo  yyoouurr  bbrrootthheerr  aanndd  ppaarrttnneerr..  IIff  yyoouu  sshhoouulldd  pprreeffeerr  tthhee  rroouunndd--aabboouutt  rrooaadd,,  yyoouu  mmuusstt  tthheenn  lleeaavvee
MMaanncchheesstteerr  eeaarrllyy  iinn  tthhee  mmoorrnniinngg  aanndd  rreeaacchh  LLaannccaasstteerr  aabboouutt  ttwwoo  oorr  hhaallff  ppaasstt,,  aanndd  lleeaavvee  bbyy  tthhee  UUllvveerrssttoonnee
ccooaacchh  aatt  tthhrreeee..  TThhiiss  ccooaacchh  wwiillll  ppuutt  yyoouu  ddoowwnn  aatt  aa  ppllaaccee  ccaalllleedd  LLiinnddaallee,,  aabboouutt  99  mmiilleess  bbeeyyoonndd  MMiillnntthhrroopp
wwhheerree  yyoouu  wwiillll  sslleeeepp  aanndd  wwaallkk  55  mmiilleess  nneexxtt  mmoorrnniinngg  ttoo  CCaarrttmmeell..  II  aamm  vveerryy  ppaarrttiiccuullaarr  iinn  ggiivviinngg  ddiirreeccttiioonnss,,
pprraayy  eexxccuussee  mmee..      DD..CC..""

Thomas Moore died in March 1839, he must have been sick in the February of that year for it was
then that he set his affairs in order. He assigned executors, made his will and after his death his
wife was required to pay a heriot to the Lord of the Manor, Thomas Greene, because the Hest
Bank Inn was a Copyhold estate in the Manor of Slyne-with-Hest. The Inn was subject to a
mortgage lent by William Field, a merchant of Cartmell, and during the interim until the Inn was
sold William Field took charge. He installed William Tatham as Landlord.. The following
Assignment was published in the Lancaster Gazette on Feburary 2nd 1839

WWhheerreeaass  TThhoommaass  MMoooorree  ooff  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  iinn  tthhee  CCoouunnttyy  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr,,  IInnnnkkeeeeppeerr,,  hhaatthh  bbyy  cceerrttaaiinn  iinnddeennttuurreess
ooff  LLeeaassee  aanndd  RReelleeaassee  aassssiiggnneedd  oovveerr  aallll  hhiiss  rreeaall  aanndd  ppeerrssoonnaall  eessttaattee  aanndd  eeffffeeccttss  uunnttoo  TThhee  RReevv..  WWiilllliiaamm  RRiigggg
ooff  FFllooookkbbuurrgghh  aanndd  WWiilllliiaamm  BBuusshh  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr,,  SSppiirriitt  MMeerrcchhaanntt  iinn  ttrruusstt  ffoorr  tthhee  bbeenneeffiitt  ooff  aallll  hhiiss  ccrreeddiittoorrss..
WWiittnneessss  JJ..MM..  HHaarrrriissoonn,,  ssooll..  FFllooookkbbuurrgghh..

TThhoommaass  MMoooorree  ooff  TThhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  IInnnn  hhaass  ddiieedd  ssiinnccee  tthhee  llaasstt  CCoouurrtt,,  hhiiss  wwiiffee  iiss  nnooww  iinn  ppoosssseessssiioonn  ooff  tthhee
IInnnn  aanndd  tthhee  LLoorrdd  iiss  eennttiittlleedd  ttoo  aa  hheerriioott..
[[  MMaannoorr  CCoouurrtt  ddooccuummeenntt]]

The Hest Bank Inn was again for sale in May 1839. Mrs Moore was still living at the Inn, which
had been much improved, there were hot and cold water and shower baths available. There was
also accommodation for invalids because the sea bathing was recommended at that time for
infirmities. The buyer of the Inn in 1839 was William Field but he only kept it for two years.

VVaalluuaabbllee  HHootteell  ffoorr  SSaallee..  TToo  bbee  ssoolldd  bbyy  AAuuccttiioonn,,  BByy  MMrr..  MMaatttthheeww  KKnnoowwlleess..
AAtt  tthhee  hhoouussee  ooff  MMrrss..  MMoooorree,,  tthhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell  oonn  TTuueessddaayy,,  tthhee  1188tthh  JJuunnee  11883399..  TThhee  SSaallee  ttoo  ccoommmmeennccee
aatt  ssiixx  oo''cclloocckk  iinn  tthhee  eevveenniinngg..
AAllll  tthhaatt  lloonngg  eessttaabblliisshheedd  aanndd  wweellll  AAccccuussttoommeedd  HHootteell,,  ssiittuuaattee  aatt  HHeesstt  BBaannkk,,  iinn  tthhee  CCoouunnttyy  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr,,
ttooggeetthheerr  wwiitthh  tthhee  BBaarrnn,,  SSttaabblleess,,  BBrreewwhhoouussee,,  BBuuiillddiinnggss  aanndd  GGaarrddeenn,,  tthheerreeuunnttoo  bbeelloonnggiinngg  aanndd  aaddjjooiinniinngg,,
aallssoo  aa  cclloossee  ooff  llaanndd,,  ccoonnttiigguuoouuss  tthheerreettoo,,  ccoonnttaaiinniinngg  bbyy  eessttiimmaattiioonn  oonnee  aaccrree,,  oorr  tthheerreeaabboouuttss,,  bbee  tthhee  ssaammee
mmoorree  oorr  lleessss,,  aallll  wwhhiicchh  ssaaiidd  pprreemmiisseess  aarree  nnooww  iinn  tthhee  ooccccuuppaattiioonn  ooff  MMrrss..  MMoooorree..
TThhee  PPrrooppeerrttyy  iiss  CCuussttoommaarryy  CCooppyyhhoolldd  ooff  iinnhheerriittaannccee  ooff  tthhee  MMaannoorr  ooff  SSllyynnee--wwiitthh--HHeesstt;;  aanndd  ssuubbjjeecctt  ttoo  aann
aannnnuuaall  rreenntt  ooff  11ss--44dd..  aanndd  ttoo  HHeerriioott  sseerrvviiccee..
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HHeesstt  BBaannkk  iiss  ddiissttaanntt  ffrroomm  LLaannccaasstteerr  aabboouutt  33  mmiilleess,,  oonn  tthhee  ddiirreecctt  rrooaadd  ttoo  UUllvveerrssttoonn  bbyy  tthhee  SSaannddss;;  aanndd  hhaass
bbeeeenn  ffoorr  mmaannyy  yyeeaarrss  aa  mmoosstt  ffaasshhiioonnaabbllee  rreessoorrtt  iinn  tthhee  bbaatthhiinngg  sseeaassoonn..  TThhee  HHootteell  bbeeiinngg  ffiitttteedd  uupp  wwiitthh  hhoott,,
ccoolldd  aanndd  sshhoowweerr  bbaatthhss,,  aanndd  eevveerryy  aaccccoommmmooddaattiioonn  ffoorr  tthhee  IInnvvaalliidd,,  hhaass  ccoonnsseeqquueennttllyy  rreecceeiivveedd  aa  llaarrggee  sshhaarree
ooff  PPuubblliicc  PPaattrroonnaaggee..
MMrrss..  MMoooorree  wwiillll  sshheeww  tthhee  PPrreemmiisseess,,  aanndd  ffuurrtthheerr  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  mmaayy  bbee  hhaadd  oonn  aapppplliiccaattiioonn  ttoo  ::
RReevv..  WW  RRiigggg,,  FFllooookkbbuurrgghh,,  oorr  MMrr..  BBuusshh  ooff  LLaannccaasstteerr,,  bbootthh  AAssssiiggnneeeess  ooff  tthhee  llaattee  TThhoommaass  MMoooorree..
SSooll..  FFllooookkbbuurrgghh,,  MMaayycchheellll  HHaarrrriissoonn..
NN  BB..  TThhee  ooccccuuppiieerr  ooff  tthhee  HHootteell  hhaass  aallwwaayyss  bbeeeenn  pprriivviilleeggeedd  ((oonn  aapppplliiccaattiioonn  ttoo  tthhee  GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt))  ttoo  hhoolldd  tthhee
ssiittuuaattiioonn  ooff  GGuuiiddee  oovveerr  KKeeeerr,,  aatt  aa  SSaallaarryy  ooff  ££1100  ppeerr  aannnnuumm..[[LLaannccaasstteerr  GGaazzeettttee  MMaayy  1188tthh  11883399]]

HHoorrssee  RRaacciinngg  iinn  11884400

Hest Bank was a lively little watering hole in the 1840s and much envied locally for its Bowling
Green (nothing changes) and for its horse racing! The horse races attracted large crowds and one
might wonder where they could take place; an advertisement from the Lancaster Gazette reveals
all. But have you ever heard of cart horse racing before?

HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell  RRaacceess..
TThhee  PPuubblliicc  aarree  rreessppeeccttiivveellyy  iinnffoorrmmeedd  tthhaatt  tthhee  aabboovvee  RRaacceess  wwiillll  ttaakkee  ppllaaccee  oonn  TTuueessddaayy  tthhee  99tthh  ddaayy  ooff  JJuunnee
11884400,,  oonn  MMoorreeccaammbbee  BBaayy  SSaannddss,,  wwhheenn  tthhee  ffoolllloowwiinngg  pprriizzeess  wwiillll  bbee  rruunn  ffoorr::--
OOnnee  eexxcceelllleenntt  CCaarrtt  SSaaddddllee  ttoo  bbee  ggaallllooppeedd  ffoorr  bbyy  CCaarrtt  HHoorrsseess..
OOnnee  eexxcceelllleenntt  HHuunnttiinngg  WWhhiipp  ttoo  bbee  ggaallllooppeedd  ffoorr..
OOnnee  eexxcceelllleenntt  SSnnaaffffllee  BBrriiddllee  ttoo  bbee  ttrrootttteedd  ffoorr..
AAllssoo  aa  BBeelltt  ttoo  bbee  WWrreessttlleedd  ffoorr..
EEvveerryy  hhoorrssee  tthhaatt  iinntteennddss  rruunnnniinngg  oonn  tthhaatt  ddaayy  mmuusstt  bbee  aatt  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell  aatt  TTeenn  oo''cclloocckk  iinn  tthhee  mmoorrnniinngg,,  ttoo
mmaakkee  tthheeiirr  EEnnttrraannccee,,  vviizz..--TTwwoo  SShhiilllliinnggss  ffoorr  tthhee  ffiirrsstt  pprriizzee..  OOnnee  SShhiilllliinngg  ffoorr  tthhee  sseeccoonndd  pprriizzee  aanndd  SSiixxppeennccee
ffoorr  tthhee  tthhiirrdd  pprriizzee..  EEaacchh  hhoorrssee  ttoo  bbee  eenntteerreedd..  TThhrreeee  ttoo  ssttaarrtt  ffoorr  eeaacchh  PPrriizzee  oorr  nnoo  rraaccee..
TThhee  SSppoorrtt  ttoo  ccoommmmeennccee  aatt  OOnnee  oo''cclloocckk  iinn  tthhee  aafftteerrnnoooonn  oonn  aaccccoouunntt  ooff  tthhee  ttiiddee..  NNoo  TTeennttss,,  BBooootthhss,,  oorr    SSttaallllss
ttoo  bbee  eerreecctteedd  oonn  tthhee  ssaannddss  wwiitthhoouutt  tthhee  ccoonnsseenntt  ooff  tthhee  GGuuiiddee  oovveerr  tthhee  RRiivveerr  KKeeeerr..
AA  PPuubblliicc  AAsssseemmbbllyy  iinn  tthhee  EEvveenniinngg..
WWiilllliiaamm  TTaatthhaamm,,  SStteewwaarrdd  ooff  tthhee  CCoouurrssee..
HHeesstt  BBaannkk
[[LLaannccaasstteerr  GGaazzeettttee  MMaayy  3300tthh  11884400]]

The Steward of the course William Tatham was also landlord of The Hest Bank Hotel. He was
then aged 26, married with one child.

BBaarree--kknnuucckkllee  BBooxxiinngg  iinn  11884400

William Tatham obviously had the best interests of his patrons at heart, much better than satelite
TV he organised live sporting contests. In addition to the horse racing they could enjoy boxing
contests as the Gazette reported. At that time boxing contests were bare-knuckle fights, they
could be of an extremely vicious nature with contestants suffering serious injuries, some of which
were fatal. The sport of modern boxing, as distinguished from pugilism, dates from 1866 when
the public became disgusted with the brutality and unfair practices of the professional "bruisers"
and the Marquis of Queensbury rules came into effect. Before that time gloves were only used in
training. The local police chief, Inspector Walters, took a professional interest in the proceedings!
Walters' police training had been in London and his move to Slyne in 1840 as head of the Rural
Police was probably a promotion. He was 40 years old and lived at Slyne with his son William,
aged 19, who was a Police Constable.

PPrriizzee  FFiigghhtt
WWee  hhaavvee  rreeaassoonn  ttoo  bbeelliieevvee  tthhaatt  aa  pprriizzee  ffiigghhtt  ffoorr  ££2200  aa--ssiiddee  wwaass  ttoo  hhaavvee  ""ccoommee  ooffff""  aatt  oorr  nneeaarr  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  oonn
TTuueessddaayy,,  bbuutt  IInnssppeeccttoorr  WWaalltteerrss  wwaass  oonn  tthhee  ssppoott,,  aanndd  wwee  ggaatthheerr  hhiiss  vviiggiillaannccee  ssppooiilleedd  ssppoorrtt  aa  lliittttllee..  AAss  iitt
wwaass,,  tthhee  eeffffeecctt  wwaass  ttoo  bbrriinngg  aa  ttoolleerraabbllee  ooff  rraabbbbllee  ttoo  tthhee  ssppoott..
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[[  LLaannccaasstteerr  GGaazzeettttee,,  NNoovv..  2288tthh..  11884400]]
WWee  ssttaatteedd  iinn  oouurr  llaasstt  tthhaatt  tthhee  vviiggiillaannccee  ooff  IInnssppeeccttoorr  WWaalltteerrss  hhaadd  pprreevveenntteedd  aa  pprriizzee  ffiigghhtt  wwhhiicchh  wwaass  ttoo  hhaavvee
ttaakkeenn  ppllaaccee  aatt  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  bbuutt  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  wwaass  rreecceeiivveedd  bbyy  tthhee  ppoolliiccee  ffrroomm  PPrreessttoonn,,  tthhaatt  ttwwoo
ppeerrssoonnss  bbeelloonnggiinngg  ttoo  tthhaatt  ttoowwnn  nnaammeedd  MMaayyoorr  aanndd  NNiigghhttiinnggaallee  iinntteennddeedd  ttoo  ffiigghhtt  aa  ppiittcchheedd  bbaattttllee  aatt  HHeesstt
BBaannkk  oonn  SSaattuurrddaayy  mmoorrnniinngg  llaasstt..  TThhee  ppoolliiccee  ttrriieedd  ttoo  aarrrreesstt  NNiigghhttiinnggaallee  aatt  tthhee  SShhoovveell  PPuubblliicc  HHoouussee  iinn
LLaannccaasstteerr,,  bbuutt  tthhee  bbiirrdd  hhaadd  fflloowwnn..  TThhee  RRuurraall  PPoolliiccee  mmaaddee  ddiirreecctt  ffoorr  tthhee  ccaannaall  bbaannkkss,,  aanndd  ccaappttuurreedd  hhiimm..
IInnssppeeccttoorr  WWaalltteerrss  aanndd  SSuuppeerriinntteennddeenntt  WWrriigghhtt  wwiitthh  mmeenn  ooff  tthhee  CCoouunnttyy  aanndd  BBoorroouugghh  ppoolliiccee  tthheenn  hhaasstteenneedd
ooffff  ttoo  tthhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell,,  aanndd  tthheerree  ffoouunndd  tthhee  ootthheerr  ppuuggiilliisstt  iinn  bbeedd..  HHee  wwaass  ttaakkeenn  iinnttoo  ccuussttooddyy  aanndd  wwiitthh
hhiimm  wweerree  ttaakkeenn  ttwwoo  ppaaiirrss  ooff  bbooxxiinngg  gglloovveess  aanndd  aa  ppaaiirr  ooff  dduummbb  bbeellllss..  AAllll  tthhiiss  ttooookk  ppllaaccee  oonn  FFrriiddaayy  nniigghhtt
llaasstt  aanndd  eeaarrllyy  mmoorrnniinngg  ooff  SSaattuurrddaayy..
TThhee  ttwwoo  mmaann  wweerree  ttaakkeenn  bbeeffoorree  tthhee  MMaaggiissttrraatteess,,  NNiigghhttiinnggaallee  wwaass  ddiisscchhaarrggeedd  bbuutt  wwaass  tthhoouugghhtt  ttoo  hhaavvee  hhaadd
tthhee  mmoorraall  iinntteennttiioonn  ttoo  ccoommmmiitt  aa  bbrreeaacchh  ooff  tthhee  ppeeaaccee..  MMaayyoorr  wwaass  kkeepptt  iinn  tthhee  CCaassttllee  uunnttiill  aann  iinnssppeeccttiioonn  ooff
ppoolliiccee  ccaammee  ffrroomm  PPrreessttoonn  ttoo  ccoolllleecctt  hhiimm..
CCoonnssiiddeerraabbllee  ddiissaappppooiinnttmmeenntt  mmuusstt  hhaavvee  bbeeeenn  tthhee  ccoonnsseeqquueennccee  ooff  tthheessee  uunnttoowwaarrdd  eevveennttss,,  aass  aa  ggrreeaatt
nnuummbbeerr  ooff  ppeeooppllee  hhaadd  ccoolllleecctteedd  iinn  aanndd  aabboouutt  HHeesstt  BBaannkk..
[[  LLaannccaasstteerr  GGaazzeettttee  NNoovv..  2211sstt  11884400  ]]

TThhee  CCrroosssskkeellll  FFaammiillyy

It is interesting to look who was at the Hest Bank Inn on the day of the census in 1841. There
were four people staying at the Hotel and four servants to help with the running of the premises.

WWiilllliiaamm  TTaatthhaamm,,  aaggeedd  2277,,  IInnnnkkeeeeppeerr..
IIssaabbeellllaa,,  aaggeedd  3311..
EEmmmmaa,,  aaggeedd  88  mmooss..
EElliizzaabbeetthh  MMoooorree,,  aaggeedd  7755,,  iinnddeeppeennddeenntt  mmeeaannss..
MMaarryy  HHeeaattoonn,,  aaggeedd  4400,,  iinnddeeppeennddeenntt  mmeeaannss..
EElliizzaabbeetthh  MMoooorree,,  aaggeedd  4455,,  iinnddeeppeennddeenntt  mmeeaannss..
AAnnnn  HHaarrrriissoonn,,  aaggeedd  2277,,  ffeemmaallee  sseerrvvaanntt..
MMaarrggaarreett  BBaattttyy,,  aaggeedd  2211,,  ffeemmaallee  sseerrvvaanntt..  AAnnnn  CClloossee,,  aaggeedd  1144,,  ffeemmaallee  sseerrvvaanntt..
SSaarraahh  HHooddggssoonn,,  aaggeedd  1155,,  ffeemmaallee  sseerrvvaanntt..
EEddwwaarrdd  CCooxx,,  aaggeedd  3355,,  AAuuccttiioonneeeerr..  [[CCeennssuuss  rreettuurrnnss  11884411]]

Mr Tatham and Isabella suffered the sad loss of an infant daughter Ann in January 1842.

In 1841 George Crosskell paid £650 for the Hest Bank Inn. On the tithe map of 1845 the
property includes an orchard and a very large garden. The owners of the Hotel had their own pew
in Bolton-le-Sands Church. George must have brought his family to Hest Bank with him because
in 1843 he gave his son-in-law Adam Clark part of his land and on this part Adam built "The
Thorns". His elder daughter Margaret married Mr Thomas Worthington of Hatlex Farm in1846.
In 1849 George Crosskell sold the Hest Bank Hotel to Oliver Simms of Manchester who paid
£950 for it. The Inn throughout most of its existence appears to have been mortgaged; nearly all
of the owners borrowed money  using the Inn as collateral for various complex business deals.

George Crosskell followed the example set by William Tatham in keeping his clients happy, this
time by selling ale on a Sunday. For this offence he was hauled before the County Petty Sessions
with Jane Wilkinson who kept the Old Hall across the road:

CCaauuttiioonn  ttoo  PPuubblliiccaannss  aanndd  BBeeeerr--HHoouussee  KKeeeeppeerrss..
AAtt  tthhee  CCoouunnttyy  PPeettttyy  SSeessssiioonnss  oonn  SSaattuurrddaayy  llaasstt..  GGeeoorrggee  CCrroosssskkeellll,,  ooff  tthhee  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell  aanndd  JJaannee
WWiillkkiinnssoonn,,  bbeeeerr--hhoouussee  kkeeeeppeerr  ooff  HHeesstt  BBaannkk  [[OOlldd  HHaallll]]  wweerree  ccoonnvviicctteedd  ooff  vveennddiinngg  lliiqquuoorr  dduurriinngg  ddiivviinnee
sseerrvviiccee  oonn  tthhee  SSuunnddaayy  pprreecceeddiinngg..  CCrroosssskkeellll  wwaass  ddiisscchhaarrggeedd  wwiitthh  aa  rreepprriimmaanndd,,  oonn  ppaayyiinngg  ccoossttss  aanndd
WWiillkkiinnssoonn  wwaass  ffiinneedd  55//--..
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The Railway Age

After the Railway opened in 1846 the coach and canal trade began to die away but a new clientele
emerged descending on the village on Bank Holidays. The Railway built up traffic and packed
trains arrived at Hest Bank Station. By 1890 Mr Bryden the Station Master stated that between
600 and 800 passengers arrived each day in the season with 1000 on Whit Monday. The Railways
gave a boost to all the busineses in Hest Bank including the Hotel.

By 1851 Thomas Buxton was the Landlord and the Hotel became known as "Buxtons Hotel". In
1857 coaches still went across the sands to their low-tide timetables but by then the assistant
guide's office at Hest Bank had lapsed. The chief guide remained at Cart Lane, (named after the
Carter Family) Kent's Bank.

In 1861 Thomas Buxton died and his wife Sarah returned to Lancaster leaving the running of the
Hotel to her sister Elizabeth Dickenson. The 1861 Census records the inhabitants:

EElliizzaabbeetthh  DDiicckkeennssoonn,,  ddoommeessttiicc  aassssiissttaanntt..
JJoohhnn  DDiicckkeennssoonn,,  bbrrootthheerr,,  aaggeedd  4422,,  pplluummbbeerr  aanndd  ppaaiinntteerr..
LLiillllaa  CCoottttoonn,,  aaggeedd  1155,,  aassssiissttaanntt  iinn  hhoouussee..
EElllleenn  WWiillssoonn,,  vviissiittoorr,,  aaggeedd  2211,,  LLiivveerrppooooll..
HHaannnnaahh  GGrreeeennhhooww,,  aaggeedd  6600,,  WWeessttmmoorrllaanndd,,  vviissiittoorr..
HHeennrryy  VVeerriittyy,,  aaggeedd  2200,,  wwaattcchh  mmaakkeerr..
AAggnneess  NNeewwttoonn,,  ffeemmaallee  sseerrvvaanntt,,  aaggeedd  2200,,  ggeenneerraall..
MMaarrggaarreettttaa  BBooddiiaannoo,,  vviissiittoorr,,  aaggeedd  2211,,  MMaanncchheesstteerr..  [[CCeennssuuss  rreettuurrnn  11886611]]

Some time after 1861 Jonathan Wilding became the Landlord of the Hotel. Very little is known
about him although he was Landlord for about ten years. By 1871 the Census returns show that
William Holmes Garlick was the proprietor with his wife Jane and two children:

WWiilllliiaamm  HH..  GGaarrlliicckk,,  aaggeedd  3366,,  IInnnn  KKeeeeppeerr..
JJaannee,,  wwiiffee,,  aaggeedd  3311..
JJoohhnn,,  ssoonn  aaggeedd  33..
MMaarrggaarreett,,  ddaauugghhtteerr,,  aaggeedd  11..
SSaarraahh  HHiinnddssoonn,,  aaggeedd  3311,,  ddoommeessttiicc  sseerrvvaanntt..  [[11887711  CCeennssuuss  rreettuurrnn]]

William was still there in 1881 with another daughter:

WWiilllliiaamm  HHoollmmee  GGaarrlliicckk,,  hheeaadd  ooff  hhoouusseehhoolldd,,  aaggeedd  4488,,  IInnnnkkeeeeppeerr..
JJaannee,,  wwiiffee,,  aaggeedd  4422..
JJoohhnn,,  ssoonn  1144,,  sscchhoollaarr..
MMaarrggaarreett  JJaannee,,  ddaauugghhtteerr,,  aaggeedd  1100,,  sscchhoollaarr..
LLoouussiiaa  AAnnnnee,,  ddaauugghhtteerr,,  aaggeedd  33..
SSaarraahh  HHiinnddssoonn,,  aaggeedd  2222,,  sseerrvvaanntt..((aaggee  ddooeess  nnoott  ccoorrrreellaattee  wwiitthh  aabboovvee))  [[11888811  CCeennssuuss  rreettuurrnn]]

An interesting advertisement appeared in the local Lancaster Trade Directory of 1881 concerning
the Hotel. It extolls the virtues of the area and the facilities available to the visitor:

HHeesstt  BBaannkk  HHootteell..
WW..HH..  GGaarrlliicckk,,  pprroopprriieettoorr..
TThhiiss  HHootteell  iiss  33  mmiinnuutteess''  wwaallkk  ffrroomm  tthhee  sshhoorree  ooff  MMoorreeccaammbbee  BBaayy..  aanndd  tthhee  MMoorreeccaammbbee  aanndd  NNoorrtthh  SSoouutthh
JJuunnccttiioonn  ooff  tthhee  LLoonnddoonn  aanndd  NNoorrtthh  WWeesstteerrnn  RRaaiillwwaayy..  TThhee  ssiittuuaattiioonn  iiss  rreettiirreedd  aanndd  ssaalluubbrriioouuss,,  aanndd
ccoommmmaannddss  mmaaggnniiffiicceenntt  vviieewwss  ooff  tthhee  BBaayy  aanndd  LLaakkee  MMoouunnttaaiinnss..
EExxcceelllleenntt  AAccccoommmmooddaattiioonn  FFoorr  VViissiittoorrss  AAnndd  TToouurriissttss..
PPrriivvaattee  AAppaarrttmmeennttss.. FFaammiilliieess  BBooaarrddeedd  bbyy  tthhee  wweeeekk  oorr  mmoonntthh.. TTeerrmmss  oonn  AApppplliiccaattiioonn..
CChhooiiccee  WWiinneess,,  SSppiirriittss,,  EEttcc..;;  EEttcc..
TToo  mmeeeett  aa  wwaanntt  wwhhiicchh  hhaass  oofftteenn  bbeeeenn  eexxpprreesssseedd,,  aa  PPoonnyy  aanndd  PPhhaaeettoonn  wwiillll  bbee  kkeepptt  oonn  tthhee  pprreemmiisseess  ffoorr  tthhee
ccoonnvveenniieennccee  ooff  VViissiittoorrss..
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Mr. Garlick must have remained at the Hest Bank for twenty years but by1891 Thomas Willacy is
the Landlord. Thomas was born in Morecambe and occupied the premises with his wife
Catherine, mother-in-law and two servants:

TThhoommaass  WWiillllaaccyy,,  aaggeedd  3377,,  PPuubb  kkeeeeppeerr..
CCaatthheerriinnee,,  wwiiffee,,  aaggeedd  3333..
MMaarryy  MMuurraann,,  mmootthheerr--iinn--llaaww,,  aaggeedd  7755..
EElliizzaabbeetthh  HHaarrrriissoonn,,  aaggeedd  2277,,  sseerrvvaanntt,,  ssiinnggllee..
WWaalltteerr  MMoorrrriiss,,  aaggeedd  2244,,  sseerrvvaanntt,,  ssiinnggllee..  [[CCeennssuuss  rreettuurrnn  11889911]]

MMooddeerrnn  TTiimmeess

Ernest Peace was a lifelong resident of Hest Bank who lived at Prospect Cottage in 1913,  he had
spent his working life as groom, coachman and gardener at the Hotel. He remembered, in
conversation with Thomas Pape, the dismantling of the lantern and the old stables in the early
years of the century.

Thomas Willacy stayed to see in the twentieth century at Hest Bank Hotel. After this time the
landlords are probably remembered by older residents in the village. First there was Alfred Shaw
in 1913, then Marion F Sadler in 1933 and Mr Harold Neal before 1952. Many will remember Mr
and Mrs Harold Taylor and more recently Nora Cornick.

Nora will  tell you of the Hotel ghosts supposed to inhabit the upper rooms of the Hotel. It is
reliably reported that two such apparitions can make their presence felt! There is the "evil" one
who is male and a "good" one who appears as a maid who will happily dust your bedroom early in
the morning.

[[NNoottee::
FFrraannkkpplleeddggee::  AAllll  FFrreeeemmeenn  oovveerr  tthhee  aaggee  ooff  ttwweellvvee  wweerree  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  FFrraannkkpplleeddggeess  ((ttiitthhiinnggss))..  EEaacchh  wwaass
aannsswweerraabbllee  ffoorr  tthhee  ccoonndduucctt  ooff  tthheeiirr  aassssoocciiaatteess..  AAnn  1111tthh  cceennttuurryy  mmeetthhoodd  ooff  aassssuurriinngg  llaaww  aanndd  oorrddeerr..]]


